
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

                                                                              
 
 
 
 

MEETING OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
Thursday, September 4, 2014 – 3:00 p.m. 
Isadore A. Shrager Boardroom – M2-01 

 
Table of Contents 

 
 
(1) Agenda        Pages 2-3 
            
(2) Proceedings and Minutes of Decisions and Resolutions 
    of the Meeting of June 5, 2014     Pages 4-7  
            
(3) Gifts and Grants       Pages 8-11  
           
(4) Minutes of the June 5, 2014 Student Outcomes Committee  Pages 12-54 
 
(5) Minutes of the June 18, 2014 Business Affairs Committee  Pages 55-78 
 
(6) Minutes of the July 24, 2014 Audit Committee   Pages 79-140   
 
 

######## 
 

1



 
 

 

 

 
 
 

 
MEETING OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

AGENDA 
Thursday, September 4, 2014 – 3:00 p.m. 

Isadore A. Shrager Boardroom, M2-1 
 
(1) Executive Session 
 
(2) Consent Agenda  
 

(a) Proceedings and Minutes of Decisions and Resolutions 
Meeting of June 5, 2014 

(b) Gifts and Grants 
(c) Geographic Information Systems (GIS) Program Audit 
(d) 2014-15 Property and Casualty Insurance Renewal Program 
(e) Payment Gateway RFP 
(f) Capital Request for West Building Projects 
(g) Change Order for Garage Repairs 

 
(3) Report of the Nominating Committee for Board Officers  (A) 
 
(4) Report of the Chair 
 
(5) Foundation Report 
 
(6) Report of the President 
 
(7) New Business 
 
(8) Next Meeting:   Thursday, October 2, 2014 – 3:00 p.m. 
      Isadore A. Shrager Boardroom, M2-1 
 
Future Committee Meetings: 
 

Student Outcomes:   Thursday, September 4, 2014 
     1:30 p.m. – M2-34     

        
Business Affairs:   Wednesday, September 17, 2014 
     9:00 a.m. – Isadore A. Shrager Boardroom, M2-1  
 
Audit Committee:   Friday, September 26, 2014 
     12:00 p.m. – Isadore A. Shrager Boardroom, M2-1 

2



 
 
 
 
 
Upcoming Events 
 
Robert S. King Scholarship Reception Thursday, September 4, 2014 
      5:00 p.m. – Pavilion Cube, P2-3 
 

  PA Commission for Community  September 25-26, 2014 
    Colleges All-Trustee Assembly  Hilton Harrisburg 
 
Joint Reception, Board of Trustees 
   and Foundation Board of Directors Thursday, October 2, 2014 
      5:00 p.m. – Pavilion Cube, P2-3 

 
 44th Annual ACCT Leadership  October 22-25, 2014 
    Congress     Chicago, IL  
 
 PA Commission for Community   November 18, 2014 
      Colleges, Southeast Regional  TBD 
      Trustees Meeting 
 
 

########### 

3



 
 

COMMUNITY COLLEGE OF PHILADELPHIA 
Proceedings of the Meeting of the Board of Trustees 

Thursday, June 5, 2014 – 3:00 p.m. 
 

Present: Mr. Bergheiser, presiding; Ms. Biemiller, Mr. Edwards, Ms. Hernández Vélez, 
Ms. Holland, Ms. Horstmann, Mr. Lassiter, Mayor Nutter, Dr. Rényi, 
Representative Roebuck, Ms. Sparandara, Ms. Tsai, Mr. White, Dr. Gay, Ms. 
Bauer, Ms. Brown-Sow, Ms. DiGregorio, Ms. Garfinkle Weitz, Dr. Hirsch, Mr. 
Murphy, Mr. Spiewak, and Dr. Thompson 

 
  
(1) Executive Session 
 
 The Executive Session was devoted to a discussion of short- and long-term financial 
planning for the College. 
 
 Mr. Bergheiser opened the meeting and indicated that the Board would dispense with all 
other reports and would only take action on two items on the agenda. 
 
(2) Consent Agenda 
  
 Mr. Bergheiser requested approval of the following Consent Agenda: 
 

(a) Proceedings and Minutes of Decisions and Resolutions 
Meeting of May 1, 2014 

(b) Gifts and Grants 
(c) Board Resolution Required by PDE for Electronic Signature 

Effective July 1, 2014 
 

Ms. Holland moved, with Mr. Edwards seconding, that the Board approve the Consent 
Agenda.  The motion carried unanimously. 
 
(3) 2014-15 College Budget and Proposed Tuition Recommendation 
 
 Mr. Bergheiser reported that the Board had reviewed the 2014-15 College Budget as 
presented.  He stated that after discussion, the Board made the following three changes: 
 

(1) No increase in tuition; 
 

(2) Freeze of capital purchases, except those that are already encumbered, transferring 
these funds to the Operating Budget; and 

 

4



(3) Increase use of reserves to reflect the difference between the revenues that the tuition 
increase would have generated and the transferring of capital funds to the operating 
budget. 

 
Mr. White moved, with Ms. Hernández Vélez seconding, that the Board approve the  

2014-15 College Budget with the above three changes.  The motion carried unanimously. 
 
 Members of the Board noted that additional sources of revenue must be identified.  The 
Board voiced their commitment to working collectively on this issue. 
 
(4) Next Meeting 
 
 The next meeting of the Board of Trustees is scheduled for Thursday, September 4, 2014 
at 3:00 p.m. in the Isadore A. Shrager Boardroom. 
 
 The meeting adjourned at 5:25 p.m. 

5



 
 
 
 

COMMUNITY COLLEGE OF PHILADELPHIA 
Meeting of the Board of Trustees 

Thursday, June 5, 2014 – 3:00 p.m. 
MINUTES OF DECISIONS AND RESOLUTIONS 

 
Present: Mr. Bergheiser, presiding; Ms. Biemiller, Mr. Edwards, Ms. Hernández Vélez, 

Ms. Holland, Ms. Horstmann, Mr. Lassiter, Mayor Nutter, Dr. Rényi, 
Representative Roebuck, Ms. Sparandara, Ms. Tsai, Mr. White, Dr. Gay, Ms. 
Bauer, Ms. Brown-Sow, Ms. DiGregorio, Ms. Garfinkle Weitz, Dr. Hirsch, Mr. 
Murphy, Mr. Spiewak, and Dr. Thompson 

 
  
(1) Executive Session 
 
 The Executive Session was devoted to a discussion of short- and long-term financial 
planning for the College. 
 
(2) Consent Agenda 
  
 The Board approved the following Consent Agenda: 
 

(a) Proceedings and Minutes of Decisions and Resolutions 
Meeting of May 1, 2014 

(b) Gifts and Grants 
(c) Board Resolution Required by PDE for Electronic Signature 

Effective July 1, 2014 
 
(3) 2014-15 College Budget and Proposed Tuition Recommendation 
 
 The Board approved the 2014-15 College Budget with the following three changes: 
 

(1) No increase in tuition; 
 

(2) Freeze of capital purchases, except those that are already encumbered, transferring 
these funds to the Operating Budget; and 

 
(3) Increase use of reserves to reflect the difference between the revenues that the tuition 

increase would have generated and the transferring of capital funds to the operating 
budget. 

 
 
 

6



(4) Next Meeting 
 
 The next meeting of the Board of Trustees is scheduled for Thursday, September 4, 2014 
at 3:00 p.m. in the Isadore A. Shrager Boardroom. 
 
 The meeting adjourned at 5:25 p.m. 

7



8



9



10



11



 

 

STUDENT OUTCOMES COMMITTEE OF THE 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

 
MINUTES 

Thursday, June 5, 2014 
1:30 p.m. – M2-34 

 

Presiding: Ms. Stacy Holland 

Present:   Mr. Mark Edwards, Dr. Judith Gay, Dr. Samuel Hirsch,   
 Dr. Sharon Thompson, Dr. Judith Renyi 
 
Guests: Ms. Deirdre Garrity-Benjamin, Mr. John Moore, Ms. Marge Niven 
 
(1)   Executive Session  

Updates were provided on the Physical Therapist Assistant Program, Achieving the 
Dream site visit, and the Middle States Accreditation visit and follow up. 

(2)  Public Session 

 (a)  Approval of Minutes of May 1, 2014 

  The minutes were accepted unanimously.  

(b)  Geographic Information Systems (GIS) Program Audit 
 
Mr. Moore presented the audit of the GIS program which includes the A.A.S. degree, the 
Academic Certificate and a Proficiency Certificate. When the GIS program was 
conceived, it was early on in the development of the field. The program was designed 
with a degree program and an Academic Certificate. The Proficiency Certificate was 
developed later to meet the needs of working professionals and others who wanted to add 
the GIS skill set to an already existing degree. Over the years it has become clear that this 
is where the demand for the Program is. The program director will then be able to market 
the certificate, work with the City and other non-profit organizations. If a student wanted 
to continue into a degree program, they can do so in Liberal Arts. Ms. Garrity-Benjamin 
described the work of the GIS club which has become the GIS professionals group. She 
distributed sample maps done for non-profit organizations. The Committee suggested 
other organizations the group could work with. The recommendation of the audit is to 
close both the degree program and Academic Certificate and to look at options for 
refining the Proficiency Certificate. 
 
 

Action:  The Student Outcomes Committee recommends that the Board of Trustees accept 
the audit as presented and recommend eliminating the A.A.S. degree and Academic 
Certificate in Geographic Information Systems. 

12



 

 

(c) Institutional Research Benchmark Data 
 
The College is part of a national community college benchmark project.  
The summary data presented shows how we compare nationally and to our peers. The 
committee reviewed the tables on completion, persistence, and developmental completion 
success rates. Also considered was the summary of strengths and opportunities for 
improvement. The committee highlighted the need to continue to implement innovative 
strategies in both English and Math and to improve student success without lowering 
standards. The information on this report will be used to inform our dashboard and set 
goals.  
 
 

 The meeting was adjourned at 2:45 p.m. 

(3)       Next Meeting 

The next meeting of the Student Outcomes Committee of the Board is scheduled for 
September 4, 2014 at 1:30 p.m. in conference room M2-34. 

 
Attachments: 

Minutes of May 1, 2014 
Geographic Information Systems (GIS) Program Audit 
National Community College Benchmark Study Summary 
Achieving the Dream Site Visit Report 

13



 

STUDENT OUTCOMES COMMITTEE OF THE 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

 
MINUTES 

Thursday, May 1, 2014 
1:30 p.m. – M2-34 

 

Presiding: Ms. Stacy Holland 

Present:   Mr. Mark Edwards, Dr. Judith Gay, Dr. Samuel Hirsch,  
 Dr. Sharon Thompson, Dr. Judith Renyi, Rep. James Roebuck. 
 
Guests: Mr. David Greene, Mr. Rogers Glispy, Dr. Ronald Jackson 
 
(1)   Executive Session  

There were no items for the executive session. 

(2)  Public Session 

 (a)  Approval of Minutes of April 3, 2014 

  The minutes were accepted unanimously.  

(b)  2014-2015 Student Activities, Athletics and Commencement Budget 
 
Dr. Hirsch clarified that he brings this budget to the Student Outcomes committee 
annually. Once the Committee approves, it becomes part of the overall budget request. 
This has been a successful and busy year. Highlights include: The College is now a part 
of the National Junior College Athletic Association (NJCAA). A second major focus for 
the year has been Title IX compliance. The probation year for NJCAA has been 
completed. All athletic teams did very well. Men’s’ soccer and women’s’ volleyball are 
still independent. Next year the College will be eligible for post-season play. Changes 
were made to the athletics program for NJCAA eligibility. Two hours of study hall is 
now mandatory; tutoring is available, particularly targeted on gate-keeper courses. The 
Early Alert system is used to help track athletes academic progress. They must maintain a 
2.0 GPA and pass 12 credits each semester. If our athletes do not maintain a 3.0 GPA, 
study hall is mandatory. Part-time students can participate in intramural sports, 
racquetball as well as health and wellness activities.  
 
Dr. Jackson went into detail about Title IX compliance. The College completed an 
internal audit. Salaries for coaches and assistant coaches are now standardized. The 
NJCAA guidelines were used to help set the standard. It was clarified that coaches are 
contracted, not College employees. The College has developed a transgender student 
policy. The College strives for equal gender representation in all sports. Currently, there 
are 45 male athletes and 22 females. Dr. Gay pointed out that Title IX responsibility goes 
beyond athletics; and recommended a presentation to the Board on this topic. NJCAA is 

14

bscott
Cross-Out



 

equivalent to the NCAA for community colleges. The College is in Division III, Region 
19, Eastern Pennsylvania Conference. 
 
Mr. Glispy discussed Athletics recruiting efforts. High school students come to the 
campus, staff speak at athletic assemblies and coaches recruit as well. Students from 
neighboring states also come to the College. A major focus is to prepare our athletes for 
transfer. The majority do transfer, but may or may not participate in athletics at their 
transfer school. Athletes age is 18 -28. The College can provide primary health care
coverage if the student does not have coverage on their own. Last year, the College was 
the primary coverage for all athletes, but this is anticipated to change with the Affordable 
Care Act. Students were encouraged to sign up for health care through Single Stop. 
Approximately 350 College students attended health care assistance workshops, and 
approximately 30% enrolled.  
 
Mr. Greene provided more detail on clubs and organizations. There are 43 active clubs, 
with 1200-1700 students participating. 300 programs (on campus events) were offered 
this year. A five student programming board was created. This board created 125 
programs. The College has a three tier student leadership program – emerging leaders, 
blue leaders and gold leaders.  There are 15 students who were gold leaders in service. 
Phi Theta Kappa had 312 inductees. The Student Government Association has been 
active. They sponsored ten additional programs this year. They co-sponsored the 
Alternative Spring Break in which 40 students, faculty and staff participated. Examples 
of other initiatives in Student Life include new Student Welcome, the Black and Gold 
bash (3,000 participants), Spring Fling, Hispanic Heritage Month Breakfast, International 
Festival, Talent show and the Student Vanguard. The average GPA of student leaders is 
3.09. For student ambassadors the average is 3.30 GPA and for Phi Theta Kappa, 3.09. 
Clubs are initiated by students. Examples include the Green Cycle Alliance, Veterans, 
Anime, Black Women Engineers, and Business Honors. The Student Programming Board 
has done programs with Career Services on job seeking. The programs were held in the 
evening. Dr. Renyi reminded the group of the importance of focusing on the needs of the 
adult and working student. Ms. Holland suggested we find out what programming these 
students are interested in. Dr. Jackson responded that this has been done. Students can 
participate virtually through org.sync (on My Colonial Community). Since January, there 
have been 18,000 visits to the site. 2,000 have remained active. Students can track their 
service hours using this feature which then is documented on a co-curricular transcript. It 
will be available as a phone app in Fall. The Board discussed the importance of 
experiences outside the classroom.  
 
Dr. Jackson reviewed the details of the budget. Budget increases are minimal and there is 
no recommendation for an increase for the general college fee.  
 
Action:  The Student Outcomes Committee recommends that the Board of Trustees 
accept the budget as presented.  

 
 

15

bscott
Cross-Out



 

(c) Complete with 15 
 
Dr. Hirsch presented this new scholarship initiative which will launch this Fall. The goal 
is to accelerate degree completion. The program was designed after careful data analysis 
and review of institutional research. The program will increase the number of students 
taking 15 credits who have the ability but are not currently doing so. The Committee 
reviewed the details of the scholarship eligibility. It is hoped that we will have 100 
students taking advantage of the opportunity during Fall 2014, but we can accommodate 
more if they apply and are eligible. This program will decrease time to degree by an 
entire semester. There is little to no cost to the College. Dr. Hirsch emphasized that we 
will map out a path for students to follow, and the scholarship will only cover courses 
needed for the degree.  
 

 The meeting was adjourned at 2:45 p.m. 

 

(3)       Next Meeting 

The next meeting of the Student Outcomes Committee of the Board is scheduled for June 
5, 2014 at 1:30 p.m. in conference room M2-34. 

 
Attachments: 

 
Student Outcomes Committee Minutes, April 3, 2014 
Budget Assumptions and Rationale for the Student Activities, Athletics, and 
Commencement for FY15 Budget 
2014-15 Student Activities, Athletics, and Commencement Budget  
Complete With 15 Initiative 
 

 

 

 

 

 

16

bscott
Typewritten Text



 

 

STUDENT OUTCOMES COMMITTEE OF THE 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

 
MINUTES 

Thursday, April 3, 2014 
1:30 p.m. – M2-34 

 

Presiding: Ms. Stacy Holland 

Present:   Mr. Mark Edwards, Dr. Judith Gay, Dr. Samuel Hirsch, Ms. Mary Horstmann, 
Mr. Chad Lassiter, Dr. Sharon Thompson, Dr. Judith Renyi, Rep. James Roebuck. 

 
Guests: Mr. Daniel Melamed, Mr. John Moore, Mr. Richard Saxton, Dr. Wayne Wormley 
 
 
(1)   Executive Session  

The committee discussed candidates for promotion; the Middles States Reaccreditation 
Team Visit. Dr. Hirsch updated the committee on student tuition payment procedures. 

(2)  Public Session 

 (a)  Approval of Minutes of February 6, 2014 

 The minutes were accepted unanimously.  

(b)  Accounting Program Academic Audit 
 
Mr. Moore presented the Audit. He suggested that the audit raises timely issues since 
there are a number of emerging issues in the field. Transfer institutions such as Temple 
and Drexel will no longer accept our upper level accounting courses. In such cases it is 
better for students to pursue our degree in Business Administration to prepare them for 
transfer. The degree is an A.A.S. degree but students who want to be accountants must 
pursue a bachelor’s degree and pass a certification examination. Both accounting and 
bookkeeping are high priority occupations. The strategic question for the program is 
whether to pursue an A.A.S. in bookkeeping and/or keep a transfer focus. It was pointed 
out that Peirce College and Strayer University accept our courses. Mr. Saxton expressed 
concerns on the part of the faculty that eliminating accounting will limit the options for 
our students and that good advising is necessary. Ms. Holland asked when advising 
occurred and suggested that this needs to happen sooner so students are making informed 
choices. Several suggestions were offered for ways the faculty could engage with their 
students earlier to include open houses, meet and greet, information sheets with curricular 
pathways. Costs for the program are low. If the program is revised to an A.A. degree, 
alignment with TAOC would be required. The Committee agreed that this issue needs to 
be addressed but asked for a shorter time line to reach the decision. Dr. Renyi pointed out 
that bookkeeping prepares students for excellent job opportunities. It was mentioned that 
the program recently developed a paraprofessional certificate. 

17



 

Action:  The Student Outcomes Committee recommends that the Board of Trustees 
accept the Accounting Academic Audit with the following revisions: 
1. The deadline for decisions about the future of the program will be completed by 

the end of Fall 2014. Changes will be implemented by Spring 2015. 
2. The program must, by Fall 2014, demonstrate that they are communicating to 

Accounting students upon entry into the College about their options for transfer 
and workforce entry and advise them about the best programmatic options for 
them at that time.  

 
(c) Computer Science 2010-11 Academic Audit Update 
 
The Committee noted that this audit update was due in December 2012 and asked for a 
reason for the extended delay. Mr. Melamed indicated that the delay was due to faculty 
sabbaticals, retirements and other issues. The committee asked why this curriculum was 
still low enrolled. Mr. Melamed responded that it was because of the high level of math 
required. The potential to work with high school populations was discussed. Ms. Holland 
suggested high school partnerships that might be fruitful than the one listed in the 
enrollment planning document provided. It was reinforced that this was a transfer 
program not intended to lead directly to employment. The committee reiterated that this 
follow up was long overdue and advised the Dean and department head to meet all future 
deadlines.  
 
(d) Completion Data to Include Proficiency Certificate Students 
 
Dr. Hirsch explained that proficiency certificates range from 9 to 29 credits. Currently 
Academic Certificates (30 credits and above) are including in College data, e.g. 
graduation numbers. We have not included proficiency certificates. It was recommended 
to the cabinet that beginning this year, we include students who earned the proficiency 
certificate in our graduation ceremony and in our data. This is common practice in other 
institutions. Had we included these graduates in our numbers, we would have increased 
by almost 100. This item is brought to the Committee for informational purposes. The 
change will be footnoted for informational purposes in our research documents.  
 

 The meeting was adjourned at 2:51 p.m. 

(3)       Next Meeting 

The next meeting of the Student Outcomes Committee of the Board is scheduled for May 
1, 2014 at 1:30 p.m. in conference room M2-34. 

 
Attachments: 

Minutes of February 6, 2014 
Accounting Program Academic Audit                                                                         
Computer Science 2010-11 Academic Audit Update 

18



 

 

 
 
 
Below
Activ
 
Reve
 
Reven
·  Gen
·  Rev
·  Net
·  Com
 
*The
antici
 
**Th
requi
cafete
 
 
Bud
 
The b
Polic
the u
 
Staff,
 
The b
progr
guide
 
Staff
 
(Incr
 

Budgeting A
C

w are issues 
vities, Athlet

enue 

nue Sources
neral Colleg
venue from A
t Profits from
mmencemen

 
re is a projec
ipated growt

he projected 
ired capital e
erias. 

dget  

budget for St
ies and Proc
se of the stu

f, First Year S

budget for st
ramming, an
elines set for

f Salaries an

rease of $39

  

OFFI

Assumptions
Commencem

and rational
tics, and Com

s (FY15 Pro
ge Fee: $1,53
Activities: $
m Bookstore
nt Support: $

cted increase
th in enrollm

decrease in n
expenses and

tudent Activ
cedures Mem
dent activitie

Student Succ

taff salaries a
nd commence
rth in P&P 2

nd Benefits (

,000) 

 

ICE OF THE

s and Ration
ment Budget 

les for variou
mmencemen

oposed) 
37,000 
145,000 

e/Cafeteria: $
$57,000 

e of $47,952
ment. 

net profits in
d equipment 

vities, Athlet
morandum 21
es fund. 

cess Program

and benefits
ement expen
11. 

(52.8% of fu

 
E DEAN OF

ale for the S
for the Fisc

us budgeting
nt Budget for

 (
 (
 (

$640,000 (
 (

2 in FY15 in 

n FY15 from
repair at bot

tics, and Com
11 (P&P 211

mming, and

, funding of 
nses is not pr

unds; up fro

F STUDENT

Student Activ
al Year 2015

g criteria for
r the Fiscal Y

(FY14 Appr
(6.1% increa
(0% increase
(6.3% decre
(0% increase

n the General

m the Bookst
th the Main 

mmencemen
1) which out

Commencem

f first year stu
re-determine

om 52.2% i

TS 

vities, Athlet
5 Budget 

r creating the
Year 2015 b

roved) 
ase over FY
e over FY14
ease over FY
e over FY14

l College Fe

tore/Cafeteri
Campus and

nt is guided b
tlines the gu

ment 

udent succes
ed by establi

in FY14) 

tics, and 

e Student 
udget. 

14) * 
4) 
Y14) ** 
4) 

e due to an 

ia is due to 
d NWRC 

by College 
uidelines for 

ss 
ished 

19



FY15 Budget  
04/23/14 

 

The increase in net overall staff salaries and fringe benefits reflects the full-year 
funding of all current positions in Student Life and Athletics in this budget.  This includes 
both salaries and full cost of all fringe benefits.   
 
First Year Student Success Programming 
 
(Level Funding) 
 
This budget covers expenses related to programmatic efforts in support of entering and 
first-year students.  This includes Student Orientation and Registration (SOaR), New 
Student Welcomes, Welcome Week, and Student Involvement Days.   
 
Commencement 
 
(Level Funding) 
 
Commencement budget covers most graduation-related expenses and the May ceremony 
expenses: student cap/gowns, honor cords, printing of programs, hall rental and event 
production costs.  Some expenses paid by other offices are ultimately recorded in this 
account. 
 
Child Care Support  
 
(Level Funding) 
  
The Child Care budget is needed as a contingency for any charges that might be needed 
that are not covered by the KLC (third party vendor) contract or are beyond routine 
institutional costs (housekeeping, maintenance, etc.)   
 
 
Apportioned Funds 
 
Once staff salaries and benefits, commencement expenses, and funding of first year 
student success programming have been determined, the remaining funds will be 
allocated as close as possible in the following manner: 
 
 Percentages   Guidelines  FY14   FY15 
 
 Student Publications  10%   10.0%    10.4% 
 Campus Programming  15%   14.3%    14.5% 
 Performing Arts    5%     3.2%      3.1% 
 Student Support  15%   17.3%    17.0% 
 Student Lead./Involv.  15%   15.0%    15.0% 
 Athletics   35%   35.3%    35.0% 
 Contingency     5%     5.0%      5.0% 
               100%              100.1%            100.0%            

20



FY15 Budget  
04/23/14 

 

 
Student Publications (Guideline - 10%; Actual – 10.4%)  
 
(Increase of $4,215; 5.3%) 
  
The minor adjustments will have a minimal impact on current programmatic levels.   
 
Student Vanguard:  Increased ad revenue is expected to minimize impact on the Student 
Vanguard's reduction in allocation.  Additionally, the number of printed copies will be 
reduced and a new platform to increase online visibility will be explored. 
 
CAP Magazine:  Careful attention to production costs (e.g., minimize use of color, 
decrease page count) will mitigate the slight decrease in budget for the CAP Magazine. 
 
Student Handbook:  The increase for the College’s Student Handbook is due to a new, 
larger format designed to be more user-friendly.   
 
Campus Programming (Guideline - 15%; Actual – 14.5%) 
 
(Increase of $2,967; 2.6%) 
 
The increase in Campus Programming moves it closer to the established guideline in 
comparison to FY14. 
 
Special Theme Programming:  Funding for Special Theme Programming (Hispanic 
Heritage Month, Black History Month, International Festival, Law and Society Week 
support, etc.) was given a small increase.   
 
Performing Arts (Guideline – 5%; Actual 3.1%) 
 
(Decrease of $374) 
 
Spoken Word – Student Performances:  There was a reduction in costs this year for 
Spoken Word – Student Performances.  Students primarily now meet on Saturdays at 
NWRC and will be encouraged to create a formalized student club allowing them to 
apply for funding through SGA. 
 
Musical Events Licensing:  The Musical Events Licensing line is used to pay for 
BMI/SESAC/ASCAP (performing rights organizations) royalties and is a fixed cost.  
These licenses allow the College to use and perform copyrighted music publicly. 
 
Student Support (Guideline – 15%; Actual 17%) 
 
(Decrease of $997; 0.7%) 
 
Student Ambassadors:  The number of Student Ambassadors will continue at 20 students. 

21



FY15 Budget  
04/23/14 

 

 
Health & Wellness Programs: This line covers student medical costs associated with P&P 
308 (Infectious Agent and Blood borne Pathogen Exposure Policy).   
 
Student Leadership and Involvement (Guideline – 15%; Actual 15%) 
 
(Increase of $1,343; 1.1%) 
 
This section funds Student Government Association, Phi Theta Kappa, and all clubs and 
organizations. 
 
Athletics (Guideline 35%; Actual 35%) 
 
(Increase of $1,100; 0.4%) 
 
Most of the individual line item changes in the intercollegiate athletic lines are attributed 
to the establishment of standard formulas for coach and assistant coach salaries across 
teams – for both men's and women's teams.  This is in response to joining the National 
Junior College Athletic Association (NJCAA) and in response to our overall review of 
the College's Title IX compliance efforts.   
 
Tennis:  The large increase in Tennis is a result of joining the NJCAA.  Now, Men's 
Tennis competes in the Spring while Women's Tennis competes in the Fall necessitating 
two full-season coaching salaries.  Prior to joining the NJCAA, Men's and Women's 
Tennis competed together in a single season.  
 
Insurance and Medical Services:  The decreases in both Insurance and Medical Services 
are anticipated due to reduced insurance premiums.  Due to the Affordable Care Act, we 
are assuming that all student athletes will have personal health insurance and thus will be 
their primary insurance carrier.  We anticipate that the College may now be the secondary 
insurer.  Insurance policies are carried for both intercollegiate and intramural programs.   
 
Contingency (Guideline - 5%; Actual – 5%) 
 
(Increase of $698; 1.8%) 
  
The contingency line is split between Athletics (35%) and Student Life (65%).  An 
increase is needed to maintain the overall 5% guideline as articulated in P&P 211. 
  
 
 
 

22



TABLE VII-A

STUDENT ACTIVITIES, ATHLETICS & COMMENCEMENT BUDGET FOR THE FISCAL YEAR 2014-2015
(WITH COMPARISON TO FISCAL YEARS 2012-13 AND 2013-14)

Variance
Approved Revised Proposed From 2013-14 % Change

2012-13 2013-14 2013-14 2014-15 Revised From 2013-14
Actual Budget Budget Budget Budget Revised

REVENUES
General College Fee $1,459,960 $1,445,495 1,530,448 $1,537,000 $6,552 0.4
Commencement Support $57,000 $57,000 57,000 57,000 0 0.0
Auxiliary Profits $786,949 $683,553 661,115 640,000 (21,115) (3.2)
Revenues from Activities $158,047 $145,000 145,000 145,000 0 0.0

TOTAL REVENUES $2,461,956 $2,331,048 $2,393,563 $2,379,000 ($14,563) (0.6)

EXPENDITURES
Student Publications $79,894 $78,905 $78,905 $83,120 $4,215 5.3
Campus Programming $213,339 $112,733 $112,733 115,700 2,967 2.6
Performing Arts $26,861 $24,874 $24,874 24,500 (374) (1.5)
Student Support $188,972 $136,777 $136,777 135,780 (997) (0.7)
Student Leadership &             
Involvment $142,272 $118,357 $118,357 119,700 1,343 1.1
Athletics $308,140 $278,200 $278,200 279,300 1,100 0.4
Contingency $39,202 $39,202 39,900 698 1.8
First Year Student Success $137,943 $178,000 $178,000 178,000 0 0.0
Childcare Support $0 $5,000 $5,000 5,000 0 0.0
Commencement $157,054 $143,000 $143,000 143,000 0 0.0

Staff $1,190,446 $1,216,000 $1,216,000 1,255,000 39,000 3.2
Student Act - Renovations $136,947
TOTAL EXPENDITURES $2,444,920 $2,331,048 $2,467,995 $2,379,000 $47,952 1.9

Renovations (Org 32598) to: Winnet (S1-03; S2-08; S3-09; ------)

 
23



TABLE VII-B

STUDENT ACTIVITIES, ATHLETICS & COMMENCEMENT BUDGET FOR THE FISCAL YEAR 2014-15
(WITH COMPARISON TO FISCAL YEARS 2012-13 AND 2013-14)

Variance Variance
Final Approved Revised Proposed from 2013-14 % Change from 2013-14 % Change

2012-2013 2013-2014 2013-2014 2014-2015 Approved from 2013-14 Revised from 2013-14
Expenses Budget Budget Budget Budget Approved Budget Revised

STUDENT PUBLICATIONS

Student Vanguard $38,986 $34,905 $34,905 $33,000 ($1,905) (5.5) ($1,905) (5.5)
Limited Editions 5,623 6,000 6,000 6,000 0 0.0 0 0.0
CAP Magazine 4,778 6,000 6,000 5,500 (500) (8.3) (500) (8.3)
ESL Magazine 6,276 5,500 5,500 5,500 0 0.0 0 0.0
Student Handbook 24,232 26,500 26,500 33,120 6,620 25.0 6,620 25.0

Guideline - 10%
Actual - 10.4% 79,894 78,905 78,905 83,120 4,215 5.3 4,215 5.3

CAMPUS PROGRAMMING

Concert and Museum Tickets 108,076 19,250 19,250 20,000 750 3.9 750 3.9
Films 728 500 500 500 0 0.0 0 0.0
Lectures 6,933 5,000 5,000 6,000 1,000 20.0 1,000 20.0
Concerts 6,280 5,000 5,000 5,200 200 4.0 200 4.0
Theatre Tickets 19,899 16,483 16,483 17,000 517 3.1 517 3.1
Art Exhibits 5,252 5,000 5,000 4,000 (1,000) (20.0) (1,000) (20.0)
Special Theme Programs 34,491 28,500 28,500 30,000 1,500 5.3 1,500 5.3
Regional Centers 31,681 33,000 33,000 33,000 0 0.0 0 0.0

Guideline - 15%
Actual - 14.5% 213,339 112,733 112,733 115,700 2,967 2.6 2,967 2.6

PERFORMING ARTS

Spirit / Pep Band 641 1,500 1,500 1,500 0 0.0 0 0.0
Theatrical Productions 11,180 12,000 12,000 13,000 1,000 8.3 1,000 8.3
Spoken Word - Student Performances 9,324 4,374 4,374 3,000 (1,374) (31.4) (1,374) (31.4)
Musical Events Licensing 5,716 7,000 7,000 7,000 0 0.0 0

Guideline - 5%
Actual - 3.1% 26,861 24,874 24,874 24,500 (374) (1.5) (374) (1.5)

24



TABLE VII-B

STUDENT ACTIVITIES, ATHLETICS & COMMENCEMENT BUDGET FOR THE FISCAL YEAR 2014-15
(WITH COMPARISON TO FISCAL YEARS 2012-13 AND 2013-14)

Variance Variance
Final Approved Revised Proposed from 2013-14 % Change from 2013-14 % Change

2012-2013 2013-2014 2013-2014 2014-2015 Approved from 2013-14 Revised from 2013-14
Expenses Budget Budget Budget Budget Approved Budget Revised

STUDENT SUPPORT

Awards and Certificates 125 700 700 700 0 0.0 0 0.0
Hospitality 0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0
Advertising and Marketing 10,644 5,000 5,000 5,000 0 0.0 0 0.0
Co-Curricular Cultural & Educational Trips 50,094 28,000 28,000 28,000 0 0.0 0 0.0
Student Involvement 35,721 24,000 24,000 24,400 400 1.7 400 1.7
Leadership Training 40,452 30,177 30,177 30,680 503 1.7 503 1.7
Student Ambassador 51,936 48,000 48,000 46,000 (2,000) (4.2) (2,000) (4.2)
Health & Wellness Programs 0 900 900 1,000 100 11.1 100 11.1

Guideline - 15%
Actual - 17% 188,972 136,777 136,777 135,780 (997) (0.7) (997) (0.7)

STUDENT LEADERSHIP & INVOLVEMENT 142,272        118,357 118,357 119,700 1,343 1.1 1,343 1.1
Guideline - 15%

Actual - 15%

STAFF  
Student Activities 775,601 774,000 774,000 802,600 28,600 3.7 28,600 3.7
Faculty Advisors 55,362 70,000 70,000 72,000 2,000 2.9 2,000 2.9
Athletics 359,483 372,000 372,000 380,400 8,400 2.3 8,400 2.3

        (52.8% of total funds) 1,190,446 1,216,000 1,216,000 1,255,000 39,000 3.2 39,000 10.5

CONTINGENCY (OSA) 0 25,481 25,481 25,935 454 1.8 454 1.8

25



TABLE VII-B

STUDENT ACTIVITIES, ATHLETICS & COMMENCEMENT BUDGET FOR THE FISCAL YEAR 2014-15
(WITH COMPARISON TO FISCAL YEARS 2012-13 AND 2013-14)

Variance Variance
Final Approved Revised Proposed from 2013-14 % Change from 2013-14 % Change

2012-2013 2013-2014 2013-2014 2014-2015 Approved from 2013-14 Revised from 2013-14
Expenses Budget Budget Budget Budget Approved Budget Revised

ATHLETICS

General Athletic Support 28,014 7,500 7,500 7,500 0 0.0 0 0.0
Men's Varsity Basketball 36,308 42,000 42,000 40,800 (1,200) (2.9) (1,200) (2.9)
Men's Baseball 21,295 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0
Men's Soccer 13,465 28,000 28,000 25,000 (3,000) (10.7) (3,000) (10.7)
Women's Soccer 0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0
Co-Ed Cross Country/Track&Field 47,993 55,000 55,000 59,970 4,970 9.0 4,970 9.0
Women's Basketball 33,647 38,000 38,000 40,800 2,800 7.4 2,800 7.4
Women's Volleyball 10,538 18,500 18,500 21,500 3,000 16.2 3,000 16.2
Women's Softball 0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0
Cheerleading 8,545 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0
Co-Ed Tennis 6,729 10,000 10,000 19,220 9,220 92.2 9,220 92.2
Co-Ed Intramurals 21,333 10,000 10,000 8,110 (1,890) (18.9) (1,890) (18.9)
Co-Ed Aerobics 20,385 15,000 15,000 20,400 5,400 36.0 5,400 36.0
Co-Ed Martial Arts 0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0
Insurance 44,078 44,200 44,200 30,000 (14,200) (32.1) (14,200) (32.1)
Medical Services 3,330 5,000 5,000 1,000 (4,000) (80.0) (4,000) (80.0)
Advertising and Marketing 942 1,000 1,000 1,000 0 0.0 0 0.0
Athletic Equipment 11,538 4,000 4,000 4,000 0 0.0 0 0.0

Guideline - 35%   
Actual - 35% 308,140 278,200 278,200 279,300 1,100 0.4 1,100 0.4

CONTINGENCY  (Guideline-5% ; Actual-5%) 0 13,721 13,721 13,965 244 1.8 244 1.8

   SUBTOTAL 2,149,923 2,005,048 2,005,048 2,053,000 47,952 2.4 47,952.0 2.4

First Year Student Success 137,943 178,000 178,000 178,000 0 0.0 0 0.0
Childcare Support 0 5,000 5,000 5,000 0 0.0 0 0.0
Commencement 157,054 143,000 143,000 143,000 0 0.0 0 0.0

   TOTAL EXPENDITURES $2,444,920 $2,331,048 $2,331,048 $2,379,000 $47,952 2.1 $47,952 2.1

26



 

 
 

 

Complete With 15  

New Scholarship Initiative 

Complete With 15 will provide eligible students, who enroll in four courses (minimum 12 credits) each 
semester, with a scholarship that will fund an additional 3‐credit course.  By enrolling in five courses per 
semester with a minimum of 15 credits, students will accelerate their time to complete an associate’s degree 
thus saving time and reducing debt. 

Each semester, beginning fall 2014, up to 100 students will be chosen to participate.  Students will be provided 
with the support needed in order to be successful and must fulfill all responsibilities.  

Eligibility to Participate in Complete With 15 

 Must complete the Complete With 15  Scholarship Application 

 Must be an enrolled Community College of Philadelphia student in good academic standing with a 

minimum cumulative GPA of 2.5 

 Must have no holds or outstanding financial obligations 

 Must have successfully completed a minimum of 24 earned credits which can include transfer credits, 

credit by exam and credit for life experience 

 Any developmental courses must have been completed with a passing grade on the first attempt and 

prior to participation in Complete With 15 

 All remaining courses required for the associate’s degree must be able to be completed within three 

semesters (assuming enrollment in a minimum of five courses per semester) 

 Must not have been enrolled for 15 or more credits five courses in the previous semester 

 Must be a Philadelphia County resident 

Student Responsibilities  

 Sign and submit scholarship agreement 

 Complete a graduation review to certify eligibility to graduate within three semesters in an associate’s 
degree program of study 

 Advance in prescribed course requirements within an outlined sequence  

 Meet with an academic advisor at least once a semester 

 Register for upcoming semester during first week of web registration 

 Fulfill all responsibilities outlined in scholarship agreement including: 
 Maintain good academic standing 
 No withdrawals or course failures 
 Seek support if needed or as directed 
 No changes to agreed upon course sequence, major or degree 
 Meet all financial obligations 
 Demonstrate continued commitment to Complete With 15 scholarship goals 

 Failure to meet stated responsibilities will result in termination of future eligibility 
 

 April 8, 2014 – S. Hirsch 

27



STUDENT OUTCOMES COMMITTEE OF THE 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

 
SUMMARY of AUDIT ACTIONS 

 
May 1, 2014 Meeting 

 
 

Summary of Geographic Information Systems Audit 
 

At CCP, Geographic Information Systems (GIS) is a constellation of three programs, an 
Associate’s Degree, an Academic Certificate, and a Proficiency Certificate. The AAS and 
Academic Certificate programs were proposed in 2006; the proficiency certificate was added in 
2010. The program, when it was initiated, was ahead of its time; and to this day, there are a 
limited number of programs regionally that support this discipline. The program, here, 
however, has limited enrollment (averaging less than 10 students combined) and may no longer 
provide the educational experiences that best support learners.  
 
The program has many strong assets, and has demonstrated a capacity for constructive change. 
The program director has constantly striven to keep the degrees and courses up to date, both in 
terms of content and delivery, with a mind toward student and industry needs. The reputation 
of the program is strong as well—students from nearby colleges enroll in courses here to 
supplement the degrees from their home institutions. Courses have been pruned when they 
are no longer appropriate, offerings have expanded online, and there is an effort to provide 
software options that are free to students. Finally, the program has sought to provide students 
with additional extracurricular learning activities—engaging them in activities such as tutoring, 
presenting at conferences, conducting research, and partnering with GIS practitioners.  
 
Pertinent data include:  

• The programs are small; combined averaging fewer than ten students a semester. 
• Students tend to be older than the average of the College and are more likely to be 

college ready.  
• Many students already enter the program with a Bachelor’s or graduate degree.  
• Student performance indicators (GPA, retention, good standing) are all higher than the 

College’s average. 
• Since the program’s inception, employment opportunities have decreased for 

individuals with only a GIS degree, but have grown for job seekers who have an extant 
degree in an appropriate discipline (e.g. urban planning, epidemiology, architecture) and 
a GIS certificate 

• The cost per FTE is lower than both the College and Division medians.  

28



• There is only 1 other associate’s level program and 1 bachelor’s level program in the 
greater region. 

 Recommendations for the program: 
  
1. Close the GIS degree and academic certificate programs.  

Although the GIS program has high quality courses and engaged faculty, the programs 
have very low participation and, given the nature of job opportunities within the 
workplace, a degree solely in GIS will not lead to employment. Closing these will allow 
the program to focus on options that better match the current directions of the field 
and student needs (see recommendation 2, below). 

 
2. Review proficiency certificate to ensure it meets the current industry needs. 

The program already has an excellent relationship with industry through its Advisory 
Committee. Employing these connections should enable the program to craft 
proficiency certificate(s) that will attract professionals to the program or will allow 
students with other interests to add GIS into an existing portfolio of study. Part of this 
process must include the timing of courses, which should seek to strike an appropriate 
balance between regular offerings and filled course seats. Online and hybrid course 
offerings should also continue to be pursued. 

 
Action: The Student Outcomes Committee of the Board recommends that the Board of Trustees 
accept the audit of the GIS program.  
 

29



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Community College of Philadelphia 
 

Academic Program Audit:    
 

Geographic Information Systems 
AAS, Academic Certificate, Proficiency Certificate 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Authors: 
John V Moore III 

Deirdre Garrity Benjamin 
Marge Niven 

 
 
 
 
 

Date: May, 2014

30



 
 

I. Executive Summary 

At CCP, Geographic Information Systems is a constellation of three programs, an 

Associate’s Degree, an Academic Certificate, and a Proficiency Certificate. The program, 

when it was initiated, was ahead of its time; and to this day, there are a limited number 

of programs regionally that support this discipline. The program, here, however, has 

limited enrollment (averaging less than 10 students combined) and may no longer 

provide the educational experiences that best support learners.  

 

The program has many strong assets, though, that have demonstrated a capacity for 

constructive change. The program director has constantly striven to keep the degrees 

and courses up to date, both in terms of content and delivery, with a mind toward 

student and industry needs. The reputation of the program is strong as well—students 

from nearby colleges enroll in courses here to supplement the degrees from their home 

institutions. Courses have been pruned when they are no longer appropriate, offerings 

have expanded online, and there is an effort to provide software options that are free to 

students. The program director, too, is the driving force behind a highly engaged 

advisory council and part time faculty group. Finally, the program has sought to provide 

students with additional extracurricular learning activities—engaging them in activities 

such as tutoring, presenting at conferences, conducting research, and partnering with 

GIS practitioners. This involvement has extended into alumni as well, who have stayed 

part of the program even after leaving the program.  

  

Students in the program are performing well as evidenced by SLO assessment and 

indirect data on course completion and GPA, although the small numbers make 

comparison to the College or Division difficult. Courses have a tendency to run with 

lower enrollments; additional course planning may be a necessary part of ongoing 

changes to the program.  

 

It is recommended that the program close the AAS and Academic Certificate to allow 

program resources to be focused on proficiency certificates, which appear to be more in 

line with the future of the field. 

 

II. Program 

Geographic Information Systems is a computerized spatial database management 

system for capture, storage, retrieval, analysis, and display of geographic information. 

Along with general education, the GIS AAS degree courses provide students with the 

knowledge and practical skills necessary to develop and manage geospatial projects and 

to interpret and implement GIS as a decision support tool. 

31



 

The Geographic Information Systems (GIS) program teaches students how to turn maps 

into super sources of information. They learn how to understand the technical process 

behind GIS, use basic GIS tools, develop a portfolio of GIS work, create and manage a 

GIS database, and design and complete GIS projects. Students receive hands‐on training 

utilizing up‐to‐date computer hardware and software, and learn theories and skills to 

manage GIS projects. 

A.  Brief History of the Program   

In 2004, faculty conducted a feasibility study for a GIS degree program. They noted 

that GIS skills were in demand at a number of government agencies, urban and 

regional planning commissions, highway departments, oil and gas companies, health 

agencies, architecture firms, and sanitation departments. The mean salary for 

positions with these skills was about 50% higher than the mean for all jobs in 

Philadelphia. Burlington County Community College and Rowan College had recently 

started GIS programs (the only other programs in a 40 mile radius of the city), 

meaning that CCP would be an early provider of the program. It was recommended 

that the College develop a GIS program. 

 

The AAS and Academic Certificate programs were proposed in 2006; the proficiency 

certificate was added in 2010. The proposal documents noted that nationally, GIS 

was a growing and rapidly evolving field. The hope was to tap into a market of 

individuals with degrees already working in the fields mentioned above who needed 

to update their skill sets to meet the growing technological advances in GIS. The 

program also hoped to attract recent high school graduates and other individuals 

who had not previously enrolled in postsecondary education who would be 

interested in entry level positions that required GIS skills. 

 

The nature of the field has encouraged the program to regularly update their course 

offerings to meet the fast‐paced technological developments in software, hardware, 

and applications (See D, below). 

 

   

32



 
 

B1.  Curriculum Sequence (Degree) 

Course Number and Name  Pre‐ or Corequisites  Credits  Gen Ed Req. 

First Semester 

GIS 101 ‐ Introduction to GIS     3    

GEOG 101 ‐Intro to Physical Geography or 
   3  Social Science 

GEOG 103 ‐ Intro to Human Geography 

ENGL 101 ‐ English Composition I     3  ENGL 101 

CIS 103 ‐ Applied Computer Technology      3  Tech Comp 

MATH 118 ‐ Intermediate Algebra or higher     3  Mathematics 

Second Semester 

GIS 102 ‐ Intermediate GIS  GIS 101  3    

GIS 104 ‐ Principles of Computer Cartography    
                          & Visualization 

GIS 101  3    

GEOG 101 ‐ Intro to Physical Geography or 

GEOG 101 or  
GEOG 103 

3 

  

GEOG 103 ‐ Intro to Human Geography or 

GEOG 180 ‐ Urban Geography or 

GEOG 222 ‐ World Regional Geography    

ENGL 102 ‐ The Research Paper  ENGL 102 (C or better)  3  Info Lit 

Directed Elective*     3    

Third Semester 

GIS 201 ‐ Advanced Geospatial Applications  GIS 102  3    

GEOG 101 ‐ Intro to Physical Geography or  

GEOG 101 or  
GEOG 103 

3 

  

GEOG 103 ‐ Intro to Human Geography or 

GEOG 180 ‐ Urban Geography or 

GEOG 222 ‐ World Regional Geography    

EASC 111 ‐ Environmental Conservation     3  Nat. Science 

Directed Elective*     3    

General Elective     3    

Fourth Semester 

GIS 203 ‐ Remote Sensing and Global  
                          Positioning Technologies  

GIS 101, Math 118  3    

GIS 206 ‐ Introduction to Web GIS  GIS 101  3    

Humanities Elective     3  Humanities 

Directed Elective*     3    

General Elective     3    

Total Credits                                                                                                                        30 

 
*ADC 101, ADC 103, ADC 163, ADC 186, ADC 273, ART 105, ART 125, ART 150, ART 151, CIS 105,  
  CIS 106, CIS 130, CIS 150, CIS 205, CIS 230, CSCI 111, CSCI 112, MATH 121, MATH 137,  
  MATH 161, MATH 162, MATH 163, MATH 251 
 
 

33



 

B2.  Curriculum Sequence (Academic Certificate) 
 

Course Number and Name  Prerequisites  Credits

Summer Session 

CIS 103 – Applied Computer  
                          Technology 

   3 

GIS 101 – Introduction to Geographic   
                          Information Systems 

   3 

First Semester 

ENGL 101 – English Composition I     3 

MATH 118 ‐ Intermediate Algebra or higher     3 

GIS 102 ‐ Intermediate Geographic  
                          Information Systems 

GIS 101  3 

GIS 104 ‐ Principles of Computer  
                         Cartography and Visualization 

GIS 101  3 

Second Semester 

ENGL 102 – The Research Paper  ENGL 101  ("C" or better)  3 

GIS 203 ‐ Remote Sensing and Global  
                          Positioning Technologies 

GIS 101, MATH 118  3 

GIS 201 ‐ Advanced GIS Systems  GIS 102  3 

Summer Or Third Semester 

GIS 206 ‐ Introduction to Web GIS  GIS 201  3 

Total  30 
                                      

 
B3.  Curriculum Sequence (Proficiency Certificate) 

Course #  Course Title 
Pre‐ and 
Corequisites 

Credits

Select 3 of the following courses 

GIS 101  Introduction to Geographic Information Systems     3

GIS 102  Intermediate Geographic Information Systems  GIS 101  3

GIS 104 
Principles of Computer Cartography and 
Visualization 

GIS 101  3

GIS 201  Advance Geospatial Applications  GIS 102  3

GIS 203 
Remote Sensing and Global Positioning 
Technologies 

GIS 101  3

GIS 206  Introduction to Web GIS  GIS 201  3

Total  9

 
  

34



 

C.  Curriculum Map 

                                                             
Courses 
 
 
 
Student Learning Outcomes 

GIS 101 
Introduction 
to GIS 

GIS 102 
Intermediate 
GIS 

GIS 104 
Principles of 
Computer 
Cartography 
and 
Visualization 

GIS 201 
Advanced 
Geospatial 
Applications 

GIS 203 Remote 
Sensing and 
Global Positioning 
Systems 

Identify how geospatial technologies 
can be used with various 
organizations and applications 

Introduced  Intermediate     Mastery  Mastery 

Identify necessary equipment 
(software and hardware) and data 
needed to complete projects. 

Introduced  Intermediate     Mastery  Mastery 

Manage geodatabases (creating, 
obtaining and updating geospatial 
data resources)  

Introduced  Intermediate  Intermediate  Mastery  Mastery 

Effectively use various geospatial 
technologies  Introduced  Intermediate  Intermediate  Mastery  Mastery 

Conduct Geospatial analyses 
(geocoding, buffer, clip, distribution, 
correlations and networking) 

Introduced  Intermediate     Mastery  Mastery 

Work productively both 
independently and in teams on 
geospatial projects 

Introduced  Intermediate  Mastery  Mastery  Mastery 

Design cartographic representations 
(maps) of geospatial analyses, draw 
conclusions and prepare reports and 
presentations that convey geospatial 
research, applications and conclusions 

Introduced  Intermediate  Mastery  Mastery  Mastery 

 

  D. Revisions to the Curriculum 
In 2010, the AAS program was revised to better meet changes in the profession 
and the educational needs of students. Three redundant courses were 
eliminated (Applications in GIS—GIS 105, Problem Solving with GIS—GIS 202, 
and Database Development for GIS—GIS 205). Another course (Spatial Analysis 
and Mapping in GIS—GIS 103) was eliminated as it was seen by the Advisory 
Committee as more appropriate for a graduate level.  Two other courses 
(Applications in Global Positioning Systems Technology—GIS 203 and Remote 
Sensing—GIS 204) were combined into one. Additional directed electives were 
added and the computer science requirement was changed from an introductory 
course to a more advanced one. 
 
In 2013, two additional changes were made to the AAS program in consultation 
with the Advisory Committee. The first was the addition of a course for web GIS 
design, the second allows for more flexibility among directed electives. An 
additional change was made to the certificate program: a web GIS course 
replaced a traditional geography course. This course was also added to the list of 
potential courses for the proficiency certificates. 

35

bscott
Typewritten Text



 

 
The program’s director and faculty have also made a number of course updates 
to keep the program current with a rapidly changing field (GIS 101, GIS 201, and 
GIS 102 have either been recently updated or are currently under revision). 

   

  E. Future directions for the field/program 
GIS has evolved, over the past few years, into an important component of fields 
such as urban planning, history, or computer science. Rather than existing solely 
as a separate entity, it has evolved into a discipline that supports a number of 
career fields. 
 

The discipline is also heavily dependent upon technology; advances such as cloud 
storage and improved tracking systems are quickly integrated into the field. It is 
critical for faculty and students to stay relevant.  

 

III. Profile of Faculty   

  A. Program Faculty 

Faculty Member  Position  Courses Taught 

Deirdre Garrity‐Benjamin  Assistant Professor, 
Curriculum Coordinator 

Geography 

 MS, Environmental Policy 
Seth Hackman  Adjunct Instructor  Introduction to GIS 

MBA; Certificate, Geomatics 

Paul Caris  Adjunct Instructor  Introduction to GIS; 
Introduction to Physical 
Geography 

PhD, Geography 

Geri Miller  Adjunct Instructor  Intermediate GIS; Computer 
Cartography and Visualization MA, Geography 

Luis Oliveri  Adjunct Instructor  Remote Sensing and Global 
Positioning Technologies MS, Agricultural Science 

 
   B. Faculty Engagement 

The one full time faculty member in the program is very active in the discipline, 
the division, and the College generally. She has cultivated a culture of 
engagement among the part time faculty members. 
 
Program faculty supported an active student organization, which has worked 
with the PA Bar Association, won awards from the NJ Department of 
Environmental Protection Mapping contest, presented at Law and Society Week 
at CCP, and participated in several volunteer activities. Students also regularly 
assist faculty and administrators with research and tutor other students. The 
program regularly hosts programs and workshops for current and future 
students, alumni, and local professionals. As the program accumulated 
graduates, the GIS Club has evolved into a GIS Professionals Group made up of 
current students as well as faculty alumni.  

36



 

 
IV. Program Characteristics 
 
  A.  Student Profile 

Student numbers for the GIS program are small, but growing; averaging just over 

7 students in the past five years, but growing from four to nine in that time 

(Table 1). The small numbers make comparisons to the division or College 

challenging. However, at present, the program enrolls a student population that 

is more likely to be white, older, and less in need of developmental coursework 

(Table 2). Course enrollment patterns run far below those of the College or the 

division, averaging about 50% (Table 3).   

 
Table 1. Headcounts 

Fall 
2007

Fall 
2008 

Fall 
2009 

Fall 
2010 

Fall 
2011 

Fall 
2012 

5 Year 
Average 

5 Year 
Change 

GIS Degree 
Headcount  4  8  7  9  9  7.4  350% 

FTE Headcount    3  5  6  7  7  5.6  250% 

GIS Certificate 
Headcount  0  1  2  0  4  1.4  ‐‐ 

FTE Headcount    0  0  1  0  1  0.4  ‐‐ 

GIS Proficiency 
Certificate 

Headcount  0  0  0  0  2  0.4  ‐‐ 

FTE Headcount    0  0  0  0  1  0.2  ‐‐ 

Liberal Studies 
Headcount  8,442  8,892  8,711  8,717  8,217  8595.8  ‐5.39% 

FTE Headcount     5,758  6,313  6,175  6,137  5,747  6026  ‐3.18% 

College 
Headcount  17,327  19,047  19,502  19,752  18,956  18916.8  9.36% 

FTE Headcount     11,883  13,362  13,696  13,682  13,111  13146.8  10.35% 

 
   

37



 

Table 2. Demographics  
 

Demographics: Running 5 Year Average 

  
GIS 

GIS 
Cert 

GIS 
Prof 
Cert 

Liberal 
Studies

College 

Female  12.6% 59.5%  50.0% 63.5% 65.2% 

Male  87.4% 40.5%  50.0% 35.7% 34.1% 

Unknown  0.0% 0.0%  0.0% 0.8% 0.7% 

  

Native American  0.0% 0.0%  0.0% 0.5% 0.5% 

Asian  7% 0.0%  0.0% 5.4% 7.2% 

African American  35.2% 42.9%  50.0% 48.5% 48.2% 

Latino/a  8.1% 0.0%  0.0% 6.5% 6.1% 

White  36.5% 36.5%  25.0% 25.9% 25.2% 

Other  10.4% 0.0%  0.0% 3.8% 3.8% 

Unknown  3.1% 23.8%  25.0% 9.4% 9.1% 

  

16 ‐ 21  29.1% 1.7%  0.0% 32.6% 32.3% 

22 ‐ 29  27.8% 40.8%  25.0% 33.6% 36.1% 

30 ‐ 39  34.1% 20.0%  25.0% 15.6% 17.0% 

40 +  9.0% 5.8%  50.0% 16.5% 13.4% 

Unknown  0.0% 1.7%  0.0% 1.7% 1.2% 

                 

Full Time  37.7% 0.0%  0.0% 33.7% 31.4% 

Part Time  62.3% 100.0%  100.0% 66.3% 68.6% 

                

All Developmental  13.3% 16.7%  0.0% 29.1% 27.6% 

Some Developmental  28.3% 0.0%  0.0% 45.7% 43.8% 

College Ready  58.3% 83.3%  100.0% 25.1% 28.6% 

38



 

Table 3. Course Enrollments 
 

 

  
Fall 
2008 

Spring 
2009 

Fall 
2009 

Spring 
2010 

Fall 
2010 

Spring 
2011 

Fall 
2011 

Spring 
2012 

Fall 
2012 

Spring 
2013 

Fall 
Average 

Spring 
Average 

Program 

Courses  2  1 2 2 4 4 4 4 3 3 3 2.8 

Avg Enrollment  13  10.5 11 11 13 11.8 11 14 9.7 13.3 11.5 12.1 

Percent Filled  43%  44% 46% 45% 54% 49% 46% 58% 40% 56% 46% 50% 

  Courses  1441  1520 1551 1674 1711 1721 1581 1577 1474 1465 1552 1591 
Division  Avg Enrollment  20.2  20.6 21.5 21.3 20.9 21.3 20.4 20.2 21.4 21.3 20.9 20.9 
  Percent Filled  81%  82% 86% 86% 83% 84% 81% 81% 84% 82% 83% 83% 

  Courses  2689  2822 2870 3090 2915 2987 2996 2918 2719 2716 2837.8 2906.6 
College  Avg Enrollment  21.2  21.2 22.3 22 21.9 21.6 21.9 22.2 22.3 22.1 21.9 21.8 
  Percent Filled  83%  83% 87% 86% 84% 83% 85% 85% 86% 84% 85% 84% 

 
 

39



 
 

B. Student Outcomes 

Because of the newness of the program and the small number of students, the 

programs’ success data are limited; there has been only one graduate each from 

the program and the certificate. Despite this, numbers for retention and GPA 

generally mirror that of the rest of the College. When examining transfer rates 

(Figure 1), it is important to note that the AAS degree is not designed for 

transfer, but rather for direct entry into the workforce. Recent changes in 

Temple University’s regulations mean that the program’s students are no longer 

guaranteed dual admissions there. 

 
Table 4. Outcomes Data: 5 Year Averages 
 

   

GIS 
Degree 

GIS Cert 
GIS Prof 
Cert 

Division  College 

Standing 

Good Standing  86.5% 97.6% 100.0% 83.1%  84.1% 

Probation  13.5% 2.4% 0.0% 15.0%  13.2% 

Dropped  0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 2.9%  2.8% 

                 

Fall‐Spring 
Retention 

Returned/Same  77.6% 100.0% ‐‐  64.1%  65.6% 

Returned/Different  7.6% 0.0% ‐‐  6.5%  5.2% 

Graduated  2.5% 0.0% ‐‐  2.3%  2.0% 

Did Not Return  12.3% 0.0% ‐‐  27.1%  27.2% 

                 

Fall‐Fall 
Retention 

Returned/Same  38.4% 0.0% ‐‐  35.7%  36.5% 

Returned/Different  2.5% 0.0% ‐‐  9.7%  8.5% 

Graduated  9.4% 0.0% ‐‐  8.1%  8.2% 

Did Not Return  49.6% 100.0% ‐‐  46.5%  46.8% 

                 

Success at 
Departure 

Graduated  0.0% 0.0% ‐‐  9.8%  9.9% 

Long Term Success  41.7% 50.0% ‐‐  36.9%  35.8% 

Short Term Success  37.5% 50.0% ‐‐  15.6%  17.7% 

Unsuccessful  20.8% 0.0% ‐‐  37.7%  36.6% 

                 

Course 
Outcomes 

Course Completion  85.4% 94.3% 100.0% 87.9%  88.4% 

GPA  2.96 3.54 3.50 2.66  2.65 

 
 

40



 

Table 5. Degrees Awarded 

2008  2009  2010  2011  2012 

GIS Degree  0 0 0 0 1 

GIS Certificate  0 0 1 0 1 

GIS Prof Cert  0 0 7 0 5 

Liberal Studies  1081 1159 956 1027 1088 

College  1985 2127 1908 1966 2132 

 
 
Figure 1. Transfer by Departure Status1  
 

 
 

   

                                                 
1 Fall 2005‐ Spring 2010 Cohorts  

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Graduated Earned 45
or more
credits

Earned 24
to 44 credits

Earned 12
to 23 credits

Earned less
than 12
credits

Grand Total

% of Students who Transferred

GIS Degree Liberal Studies College

41



 
 

V. Learning Outcomes and Assessment 
 

A. Student Learning Outcomes 
 
Upon completion of this degree, graduates will be able to:  

 Identify how geospatial technologies can be utilized within various 
organizations/applications 

 Identify necessary equipment (software and hardware) and data needed 
to complete projects 

 Manage geodatabases (creating, obtaining and updating geospatial data 
resources) 

 Effectively use various geospatial technologies such as Geographic 
Information Systems (GIS), Global Positioning Systems (GPS) and Remote 
Sensing (RS)  

 Conduct geospatial analyses and operations (geocoding, buffer, clip, 
distribution, correlation, and network) 

 Work productively on geospatial projects, both independently and in 
teams 

 Design cartographic representations (maps) of geospatial analyses, draw 
conclusions, and prepare reports and presentations that convey 
geospatial research/application/conclusions 

Data for program level outcomes  have been collected, and are currently in the 
process of being compiled. Report will be completed during Summer 2014. 

B. Course Learning Outcomes 
 
  Table 6: Timeline for Course Learning Outcomes 

Course  Assessment Evidence Collected 

GIS 101  Fall 2011 

GIS 102  Spring 2012 

GIS 104  Fall 2011 

GIS 201  Spring 2013 

GIS 203  Fall 2012 

 

The program is currently up to date on assessment of course learning outcomes, all 
courses (101, 102, 104, 201 and 203) are completed. Program SLOs remain to be 
assessed. In all cases, students were meeting SLOs by the end of the course. In 

cases where they were not (at midterms), the program is in the process of making 
appropriate changes such as potentially requiring prerequisites, or providing 
additional support materials. A sample course SLO report can be seen in Appendix 
A.  

42



 

The program uses a variety of assessment methods for its SLOs, often utilizing 
multiple assessments for each outcome. These include traditional methods such as 
exam questions and rubrics, but also innovative techniques such as peer 
evaluations. 

 
C. QVIs /335s 
335 documentation is up to date for all courses. QVIs have shown the program to 
be of high quality, but low viability. 335s have also resulted in many of the course 
changes noted above. A sample 335 may be found in Appendix B. 
 
D. Surveys 
Too few students have completed the program to have reliable data from 
graduates. 
 
E. Advisory Committee 
The Advisory Committee meets regularly and has provided support for the program 
in terms of job and internship possibilities for students, recommendations for 
curricular changes, and assistance with marketing the program. For Advisory 
Committee members and their affiliations, see Appendix C.  

 
VI. Resources 
Because of the nature of the coursework, many courses in GIS require computer labs 
and specific software programs. The program faculty have made an effort to utilize as 
many free software packages as they can to keep costs low for both students and the 
College. The program also makes efforts to offer many courses online.  
 
VII. Demand 
CCP is the only school in the area to offer associate’s degrees or certificates in GIS (GIS / 

Cartography or Geography, other). There is only one local school (Rowan College) to 

offer a bachelor’s degree in GIS. Burlington County Community also offers an associate’s 

degree, but inquiries there reveal they are often forced to run courses with fewer than 

five enrolled students. 

 

There is a documented need for professionals with GIS training. However, there are very 

few jobs for individuals solely with a degree in GIS; additional professional experience is 

usually required.  

 
VIII. Operating Costs 
The costs for the GIS program have been lower than the median costs for both the 
College and the division. 
 
 

43



 

Figure 2: Program Costs per Full Time Equivalent Student 
 

 
 
IX. Findings and Recommendations 
 
1. Close the GIS degree and academic certificate programs.  
 

Although the GIS program has high quality courses and engaged faculty, the 
programs have very low participation and, given the nature of job opportunities 
within the workplace, a degree solely in GIS will not lead to employment. Closing 
these will allow the program to focus on options that better match the current 
directions of the field and student needs (see recommendation 2, below). 
 
Timeline:   Fall 2014: begin process of program closure, current students 
     contacted. Spring 2015: no new students admitted, plan for 
     completion for currently enrolled students. Spring 2018: final  
    students graduated. 
Persons Responsible: Program Director, Associate Dean, Dean.  

 
2. Review proficiency certificate to ensure it meets the current industry needs. 
 

The program already has an excellent relationship with industry through its 
Advisory Committee. Employing these connections should enable the program to 
craft proficiency certificate(s) that will attract professionals to the program or 
will allow students with other interests to add GIS into an existing portfolio of 
study. Part of this process must include the timing of courses, which should seek 
to strike an appropriate balance between regular offerings and filled course 

'07‐'08 '08‐'09 '09‐'10 '10‐'11

GIS $2,600.52 $2,987.52 $2,678.85 $2,962.56

Division Median $3,146.86 $3,492.92 $3,225.52 $2,962.56

College Median $3,203.53 $3,465.86 $3,156.83 $3,228.85

 $‐

 $500.00

 $1,000.00

 $1,500.00

 $2,000.00

 $2,500.00

 $3,000.00

 $3,500.00

 $4,000.00

Cost per FTE

44



 

seats. Online and hybrid course offerings should also continue to be pursued. 
 
Timeline: Spring 2015 
Persons Responsible: Program Director, Division Dean, Program Faculty, Advisory 
Committee. 

 

45



 
 

Appendix A: Sample SLO Report  
 

Assessment of Student Learning Outcomes Reporting Form 
 Social Science Department/GIS 104 

 
Responsible person(s) Geri Miller  Instructor- Deirdre Garrity Benjamin- Report writer 
Data collection semester: Spring 2013 Data analysis and action plan development semester: Summer 2013 
 

Outcome  Assessment Strategies ‐ Describe the techniques and tools 
you used to assess student learning including, but not limited 
to:  

 

Expected Benchmark ‐
Describe your expectations 
for student 
accomplishment of the 
outcome.   
 

Results (data) Action Plan ‐ How will 
the faculty address the 
results of assessment?  
What changes will be 
made to try to improve 
student learning?  

Demonstrate in 
writing their 
understanding of 
terms related to 
computer 
cartography 

 The assessment tool that was used was a mid term exam 
and a final project.  

 A series of multiple choice and short answer questions 
were given on the midterm and a final project which 
included a writing portion was given during the final 
exam period.  

 1 part‐time faculty member conducted the assessment.  .

 A total of 10 students were enrolled in this course 

 All of the students in this course did not have GIS 102 
before taking GIS 104. 

 
 

It is anticipated that 75% of 
our students will master 
this evaluation metric.     

After grading the  
midterm 50% of 
students received a C 
but 80% of the 
students received a B 
or better on the Final 
Project.  
 
Our expected 
benchmark was not 
achieved.  

How will the faculty 
address the results of 
assessment?  What 
changes will be made 
to try to improve 
student learning?  
 
Although not a course 
prerequisite, by taking 
GIS 102 before GIS 104 
may better prepare the 
students for success.  
 
This learning objective 
will be reassessed when 
the course is offered 

46



 

again in 2014.  
 

Express orally 
their analysis of a 
mapping problem 

 The assessment tool that was used was in class 
discussions 

 1 part‐time faculty member conducted the assessment.  
The assessment was given throughout the semester 

 10 students were enrolled in the course 

 A participation grade of 5% was incorporated into the 
final grade of the student.  No clear grading rubric was 
given of the term participation.  

 
 

We expect 80% of students 
to achieve this learning 
objective 
 

80% of the students 
received a full 5% 
participation grade 
in the course.   

While 80% of the 
students received a B or 
better on this learning 
objective, a clear 
grading rubric of the 
expectations of the 
term participation was 
not given.   
 
This objective will be 
reassessed the next 
time the course is 
offered in 2014.  

Demonstrate 
through the use 
of a computer 
based system of 
ARC GIS software 
their ability to 
create a temporal 
animation 

 The assessment tool that was used was a final project 

 1 part‐time faculty member conducted the assessment.  
The assessment was given during the final exam period 

 The final project requires students to create a temporal 
animation in the final map.  An example of the final 
project is attached.   

 
 

We expect 75% of students 
to demonstrate 
competence of this learning 
objective.  

80% of the students 
received a B or 
better on the final     

We will continue to use 
the same methods of 
assessment since 
students are 
demonstrating 
competence meeting 
this learning objective.   
 
No action is needed at 
this time 
 
We will reassess in 2 
years.  

 

47



 

Appendix B: Sample GIS 335 Document 
 

Community College of Philadelphia 
Summary  

Credit Course Evaluation  
 
This form is used to document compliance with 22 Pa. Code § 335 (Community College Courses) for 
course review by faculty.  Analysis of the relationship of course content to expected course outcomes, and 
course outcomes to programmatic outcomes serves as an indirect assessment measure. 
 
Course Number and Name: GIS 201: advanced Geospatial Applications  
 
Catalog Description:  
This course introduces the advanced technical topics of data models, geoprocessing and enterprise GIS 
systems.  Students will also learn advanced geospatial concepts though case studies that examine real‐
world application of GIS technology principles.  Prerequisite: GIS 102 
 
1. Is the course consistent with the College Mission?  Yes __X_  No___ 

This course is consistent with the College mission in several ways.  By using data models, generating 
and deriving data sets and understanding the server side of GIS improves a student’s ability to pursue 
paths of inquiry.  It also requires students to interpret and evaluate what they have discovered, and 
to improve their ability to express the reactions to their discoveries in an effective manner.  This 
course helps students prepare for future work by requiring that they create maps, charts and data 
tables for their portfolios, a critical component in the GIS hiring process.   All of the above help 
heighten a student’s curiosity, which leads to an active interest in intellectual questions that may help 
solve cultural, social and scientific issues. 

 
2. Does the credit assignment meet accepted practices? 

Yes_ X_   No___  
This course meets the accepted practice, typically topic based GIS courses are three credits.  

      
3. Do the course materials reflect the knowledge in the program’s field of study? 

Yes___ No_X_  
The original materials included in the course documents met the knowledge of the field of study at 
the time but need to be revised to include current technology used.  The original materials for this 
course include the use of two texts related to two of the four major sections covered in the course.  
The texts are to be related to Data Models/Schema Design and Geoprocessing and contain tutorial 
exercised related to modeling and data collection.  The other two topics dealing with server GIS and 
Case Studies will use supplemental handouts and online articles to reflect current day trends.   Arc 
GIS software will be used along with the texts.  Besides the basic ARC GIS software, the students will 
also need the Spatial Analyst and 3D Analyst extensions.   
 
While the software requirements and topics dealing with server GIS and Case Studies will continue in 
the revision, the text book and tutorial options will evaluated.  
  

 
4. Is the Catalog description of the course accurate? If no, explain needed changes. 

The catalog description of the course accurately describes the content of this course, which is 
advanced geospatial applications 

 
5. Is  the course content appropriate to help students achieve student learning outcomes at the course 

level,  program level or general education/ core competency level?  
Yes X_ No___  

48



 

 
Currently, the course content is appropriate to help students achieve learning outcomes at the course 
level but the course needs to be revised to include current technologies used in the field.  This course 
uses many approaches to education including lecture and discussion, computer based exercises and 
portfolio development.  The content and activities help students demonstrate all expected course 
outcomes: loading data into a standard model, demonstrating in writing understanding of the 
information technology implications of working with this GIS technology in multidepartment 
organizations and applying GIS skills (analysis and software modeling) to case studies.  

 
6. Do the student learning outcomes match the needed knowledge base and skills to achieve 

programmatic and/or general education/core competency outcomes, and/or to prepare students for 
the succeeding course (s)? (Refer to curriculum map, program assessment plan, etc.) 
Yes__X__ No____  
 
This course requires students to have completed GIS 102: Intermediate Geographic Information 
Systems.    This prerequisite is needed in order that students have a basic understanding of mapping 
as well as the software used.  Review of the curriculum map shows that this course supports 
achievement of the programmatic outcomes focused on managing geodatabases and effective use of 
geospatial technologies.  It allows students to demonstrate mastery of  all program outcomes: 
identifying how geospatial technologies can be used with various organizations and applications, 
identifying necessary equipment  and data needed to complete projects, managing geodatabases, 
effectively using various geospatial technologies, conducting geospatial analysis working 
independently and in teams on geospatial projects; and, designing cartographic representations of 
geospatial analyses and conveying research, application and conclusions.   

 
       By completion of this course, students will be prepared to take GIS 206: Introduction to Web GIS.   
 
7. If applicable, is the course content similar to that of other transfer institutions? 

Yes _X__ No___  
This course content is similar to that of other transfer institutions.  Institutions such as West Chester 
University, and Rowan University offer similar courses.  

 
 
8. Has the Department Head presented the Summary of the Credit Course Evaluation findings for 

departmental review and appropriate action? Please include method of communication e.g. 
department meeting. 
 

Yes. The Department Head has posted this summary evaluation to the departmental listserv. 

 
Action Plan (including timeline for completion): 
 
  This course will be revised by the Spring of 2014.  The course needs to include current advanced 
GIS tools, including but limited to Python scripting, Model Builder and other advanced GIS tools and 
applications. 
 
The above course is approved and deemed to be in compliance with College requirements for credit 
course evaluation and Pennsylvania Department of Education Chapter 335 Audit documentation 
requirement. 
 
 
Act 335 eval 10‐27‐11   

49



 

Appendix C: GIS Advisory Committee Members 
 

Name  Professional Association  Relationship with Program 

Helene Iavecchia  CSC (IT Company)  Fmr Student / GIS Prof Group 

Paul Caris  New Jersey Department of Env. Protection  Adjunct Professor 

Seth Hackman  New Jersey Department of Env. Protection  Adjunct Professor 

Mark Dodds  City of Philadelphia  Former Adjunct 

Sarah Low  Federal Government‐ Parks Service  Former Adjunct 

Chris Pollard  Delaware Valley Regional Planning Commission  Will teach Web GIS 

Jason Sladinski  American Water  Former Student 

Benn Viss  Philadelphia Gas Works  Former Student 

Luis Oliveri  Geodec Consulting   Adjunct Professor 

Geri Miller  ESRI (GIS Software Company)  Adjunct Professor 

 

50



51



52



53



54



MEETING OF THE BUSINESS AFFAIRS COMMITTEE 
OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

Community College of Philadelphia  
Wednesday, June 18, 2014 – 9:00 A.M. 

 
Present: Mr. Jeremiah White, presiding; Mr. Matthew Bergheiser, Ms. Suzanne Biemiller, 

Stella Tsai, Esq., Lydia Hernández Vélez, Esq., Mr. William Finn,  Dr. Judith Gay, 
Mr. Harry Moore, Mr. Todd Murphy, Mr. James P. Spiewak, and Jill Weitz, Esq. 

 
 

AGENDA PUBLIC SESSION 
 

 Prior to discussion of the agenda items, Committee members had a brief dialogue 
related to the College’s finances and future challenges and the role that the Business Affairs 
Committee will need to play. 
 

 
(1) 2014-15 Property and Casualty Insurance Renewal Program (Action Item): 
 
 Discussion:  Mr. Spiewak explained that the College insurance program is reviewed 
annually prior to the July 1 renewal.  During the renewal strategy meeting held on February 25, 
2014, it was decided that since the College had marketed its program in the two previous years, 
Willis (the College’s current Broker) would approach the incumbent carriers with the intent of 
securing identical (or better) coverages at premiums close to expiring.  This strategy was effective 
as the overall increase in insurance premiums will be $19,770 or a 2.3 percent increase.  
Attachment A provides a summary of coverage limits and deductible amounts.  Mr. Spiewak then 
provided a brief overview of the College’s insurance coverage and renewal premiums. 
 
General Liability  
 
 United Educators (UE) offered a renewal premium of $160,942 which is $7,664 or 5 
percent higher than the expiring rate with no change to the deductibles ($25,000 each occurrence; 
$100,000 annual aggregate).  The College has had UE as its general liability insurer for the past 
thirteen years.  The College was again granted a 4 percent premium rate credit based upon certain 
risk management initiatives that were undertaken during the year.  Furthermore, the College is 
entitled to a dividend of $11,308 from United Educators if at least one coverage line (GL or 
Umbrella) is renewed.  This, in effect, makes the net cost to the College for fiscal year 2014-15 
equal to $149,634.  United Educators is organized as a reciprocal risk retention group – owned by 
its members like CCP; this would be the third consecutive year that the College will have received a 
dividend.  The 4-year aggregate dividend to the College totals $65,113.  It was noted that the 
majority of claims against this policy are for alleged slips and falls.  Currently, the College’s 
deductible is $25,000 per year with an annual cap of $100,000.   
 
Umbrella 
 

The College’s umbrella liability coverage ($25 million for any one loss) has also been with 
United Educators for thirteen years.  UE’s policy form offers the most comprehensive coverage in 
the higher education market for umbrella/excess coverage according to Willis.  United Educators 

55



offered a renewal rate of $84,539 which is $2,463 or 3 percent higher than the previous year’s 
premium.  This policy also sits on top of the $1 million coverage for student medical malpractice 
insurance.  It also provides excess general liability, automobile liability, employers’ liability and 
foreign liability insurance.  As with the general liability policy, the College was granted a 4 percent 
premium reduction based upon certain risk management initiatives that were undertaken during 
the year.    
 
Workers' Compensation 
 

The College’s workers’ compensation coverage has been with Highmark for the past 
year.  They offered a renewal premium of $336,764, an increase of 1 percent or $3,629 over 
the expiring premium.  The College continues to have a relatively low experience and the 
College’s experience modification factor decreased from .886 to .846, a decrease of 5 percent.  
The Human Resources Office and the College’s Safety Committee continue to review all work-
related claims and offer recommendations and training efforts where needed.  The College’s 
Safety Committee again received re-certification from the PA Department of Labor; this 
automatically makes the College eligible for a 5 percent reduction in premium.   
 
Property 
 

Since the College had recently moved its property coverage to Affiliated FM two years ago, 
it was decided that this coverage would not be marketed provided stable premiums were offered.  
Affiliated quoted a rate of $171,258 or $1,097 (1 percent) above the expiring premium.  This policy 
also provides $7 million of business interruption insurance.  
 
Educator Legal Liability 
 

The Educator Legal Liability (ELL) policy provides management liability protection ($15 
million limit with a $75,000 retention) for the College’s Board of Trustees and the Foundation’s 
Board of Trustees, employment practices liability, employed lawyers liability and professional 
liability for faculty and staff.  AIG, the incumbent carrier, provided a quote of $85,698 that is 6 
percent or $4,619 higher than the expiring premium.  Willis also approached United Educators, but 
the premium was higher. 
 
Automobile 
 

The incumbent carrier, Philadelphia Insurance Co., offered a renewal rate of $17,796 
which is $495 or 3 percent higher than the prior year.  Hartford, Harleysville, Fireman’s Fund 
and Travelers were also approached by Willis but these carriers would only provide automobile 
policies if they had another more substantial line of business included, such as general liability 
or workers’ compensation.  The automobile policy covers employees driving College owned, 
rented or hired vehicles as well as providing collision and comprehensive coverages for the 
College’s Facilities’ trucks, one sedan and the mailroom van. 
 
 
 
 
 

56



Student Medical Malpractice 
 

CNA offered a quote of $7,856 that is $411 or 5 percent lower than the expiring premium.  
The College again received rate reductions for being a long-term client (4+ years) and for having 
no claims during the most recent four-year period.  The number of students participating in clinical 
settings affects the cost of this insurance.  This policy provides $1 million in coverage to the 
College and to students and faculty related to their activities in a clinical setting. 
 
Crime 
 

Travelers, the incumbent carrier, offered a renewal rate of $5,000 that is $304 or 6 
percent above the expiring rate.  Travelers offered this rate based upon their opinion that the 
College had strong existing internal control features to prevent employee theft. This policy 
provides the College with protection against 1st party (employee) theft and 3rd party theft and 
fraud for a limit of $4 million.   
 
International Liability 
 

This policy was last marketed for the 2012-13 fiscal year and a three-year policy was 
purchased from AIG. This policy provides foreign-based general liability, automobile liability, and 
workers compensation coverage as well as travel, medical and security assistance services for 
faculty and staff traveling abroad.   This policy also includes kidnap and extortion coverage.  The 
annual cost for this coverage is $2,851, which is the same as the prior year. 
 
Security and Privacy (Cyber Insurance) 
 

This insurance offers protection to the College if there were data security breaches or 
compromises of student and/or employee “private” information (as determined by federal and 
state jurisdiction).  The carrier will provide forensic and legal assistance from a panel of experts to 
help determine the extent of the breach and the steps required to comply with applicable laws, 
include the following:  notification to persons who must be notified under applicable law; offer 12 
months of 3-bureau credit monitoring to affected individuals; identify theft-related fraud resolution 
services for individuals enrolled in credit monitoring who become victims of identity theft;  and 
extend coverage for theft, loss or unauthorized disclosure of information held by business 
associates as defined by HIPPA.  First party benefits include protection for data recovery and 
business interruption, extortion threats and regulatory defense and penalties.  The policy also 
protects the College against 3rd party legal action for damages arising from the alleged breach 
(including defense costs).  The renewal quote received from AIG, is $17,325, the same as the 
expiring premium.  AIG’s policy also does not contain an exclusion related to portable devices and 
data that is not encrypted. 
 
Broker Fee 
 

The annual fee for 2014-15 is $50,000, the same as last year, in accordance with the 
three-year agreement with Willis entered into in 2012-13. 

 
The following chart summarizes the recommended 2014-15 insurance program:   
 

 

57



       Renewal  Expiring 
       (2014-15)  (2013-14) 
 

Coverage    Carrier   Premium  Premium 
 

General Liability ($1M)  United Educators $160,942      $153,278    

Umbrella ($25M)   United Educators     84,539      82,076 

Workers’ Compensation  Highmark    336,764    333,135 

Property    Affiliated FM    171,258    170,161 

Educators Legal Liability ($15M) AIG                   85,698      81,079 

Automobile    Phila. Insurance Co.     17,796      17,301 

Student Medical Professional  
  Liability ($1M)   CNA         7,856        8,267 
 

Crime ($4M)    Travelers        5,000        4,696 

International Liability   AIG         2,851                    2,851 

Security & Privacy ($1M)  AIG       17,325      17,325 

Travel Accident            1,350        1,350 

TOTAL INSURANCE PREMIUMS   $891,379             $871,519 

Broker Fee    Willis   $   50,000  $  50,000 

 
Action:  Ms. Tsai moved and Ms. Hernández Vélez seconded the motion that the 

Committee recommend to the full Board that the above 2014-15 insurance program with a total 
cost, including broker fee, of $941,379 be approved.  The motion passed unanimously. 

 
(2) Payment Gateway RFP (Action Item): 

 
Discussion:  Mr. Murphy explained that a payment gateway is an e-commerce solution 

that enables students and other interested parties to make payments securely online with credit 
cards, debit cards, and by e-Check. The payment gateway integrates directly with Banner 
Information Systems, the enterprise resource planning software utilized by the College, to allow 
tuition and fee payments to be posted real-time in student accounts.  Mr. Murphy explained the 
RFP process that the College recently undertook, and Mr. Spiewak provided a historical 
prospective on credit card fees.   

On March 19, 2014, the College issued a Request for Proposal to solicit responses for a 
new payment gateway provider.  The College received six (6) responses for review.  A 
committee of College administrators served on the evaluation team.  Heartland Campus 
Solutions ECSI met or exceeded the minimum requirements of the RFP and offered the most 
effective cost savings to the College and students.  (See cost matrix contained in Attachment 
B.)  Heartland Campus Solutions ECSI is a leading provider of electronic payment solutions 

58



providing support to more than 300,000 merchants worldwide. On Tuesday, May 29, 2014, 
Heartland Campus Solutions ECSI held a presentation for the evaluation committee.  

Currently, students at the College pay a $12.00 convenience fee per credit/debit card 
transaction.  The College subsidizes an additional $1.50 per transaction bringing the total cost 
of the convenience fee to $13.50 per transaction.  Students who take advantage of e-Check to 
make payments are not subject to a convenience fee.  However, the College incurs a 
convenience fee of $1.75 per e-Check transaction.  Heartland Campus Solutions ECSI’s proposal 
reduces the convenience fee to $9.00 per credit/debit card transaction and provides e-Check 
transactions for free, that is, at no cost to students or the College.  This represents a savings of 
$52,218 for students and $42,786 to the College.  In addition to cost savings, Heartland 
Campus Solutions ECSI offers the following key enhancements: 

 
• Mobile POS (devices that accommodate in-person payments for special 

events) 
• The ability to accept international credit/debit card payments 
• The ability to schedule/edit/cancel future payments, as well as, store 

payment profiles 
• 24/7/365 days customer service support to students and the College 
• Address verification for credit/debit card transactions to reduce the 

potential for fraud 
• The ability to distinguish credit card from debit card transactions for 

Durbin Amendment pricing  
• PCI Level 1 and PA-DSS Compliant to protect customer data 
 
 

Action:  Mr. Bergheiser moved and Ms. Biemiller seconded the motion that the Committee 
recommend to the full Board that the College enter into a three-year contract with Heartland 
Campus Solutions ECSI in the annualized cost of $156,654.00.  The motion passed unanimously. 
  
(3) Capital Request for West Building Projects (Action Item): 

 
Discussion:  Mr. Spiewak stated that at the April, 14, 2014 Business Affairs Committee 

meeting, staff recommended and received approval for up to $300,000 of construction, 
professional services and outfitting costs associated with the West Building Projects to be 
charged against the fiscal year 2013-14 capital budget.  At that time, it was noted that the 
exact amount will be based upon the completed, stored and billed work as of June 30, 2014 
with the remaining costs incorporated into the capital budget for fiscal year 2014-15. The 
contractor's work efforts are ahead of the construction timeline so more costs will be incurred 
as of June 30, 2014 then previously projected.  Mr. Spiewak stated that it is anticipated that the 
construction capital costs to be absorbed in fiscal year 2013-14 will be in the $475,000 to 
$550,000 range.  Ms. Biemiller questioned staff concerning the funds for the additional capital 
costs.  Mr. Spiewak stated that the additional amount will come from the lump-sum City 
appropriation which has the effect of using slightly more of City funds for the capital budget 
and slightly less for the operating budget. 

 

59



Action:  Ms. Hernández Vélez moved and Ms. Tsai seconded the motion that the 
Committee recommend to the full Board that staff increase the amount of construction, 
professional services and outfitting costs associated with the West Building Projects to be 
charged against the fiscal year 2013-14 capital budget to a level up to $650,000.  The motion 
passed unanimously. 

 
(4) Change Order for Garage Repairs (Action Item): 

 
Discussion:  Mr. Spiewak and Mr. Moore reported that the parking garage is undergoing 

renovations addressing structural issues.  During these renovations electrical wire ways, which 
are embedded within the concrete structures, and the circuits within them, have been identified 
as severely deteriorated and the cause of repeated electrical faults effecting lights and general 
utility services being used during restorations.  This issue is particularly problematic on three 
ramps which suffered extensive water infiltration failures.  Electrical contractors have reviewed 
possible solutions and have recommended an alternate to embedded wire ways, suggesting 
surface mounted wire ways and devices, mounted in such a manner as to lie intentionally 
"uphill" from any potential water source.  The failed wire ways will be abandoned in-place. 
Pricing is based on a per ramp effort as each ramp is on a dedicated branch of the service 
provided to the garage.  This pricing is $23,800 per ramp, for a proposed total of $71,400.  Mr. 
Moore stated that the need for further electrical replacements will be evaluated with the belief 
that the water infiltration problems the garage had been experiencing are mitigated by the 
current renovation efforts. 

 
Action:  Ms. Tsai moved and Ms. Hernández Vélez seconded the motion that the 

Committee recommend to the full Board to authorize the increased scope to Watts Restoration, 
Inc. in the amount of $71,400.  The motion passed unanimously. 

 
(5) Next Meeting Date 

 
The next regularly scheduled meeting of the Committee will occur on Wednesday, 

September 17, 2014 at 9:00 A.M. in the College’s Isadore A. Shrager Boardroom, M2-1.   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
JPS/lm 
Attachments 
LORETTA/BAC/0614Minutes 

60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



91



92



93



94



95



96



97



98



99



100



101



102



103



104



105



106



107



108



109



110



111



112



113



114



115



116



117



118



119



120



121



122



123



124



125



126



127



128



129



130



131



132



133



134



135



136



137



138



139



140


	Septembertableofcontents
	agenda 9.4.14
	6.5.14Proceedings
	6.5.14minutes
	giftsandgrantsSept2014
	June 5, 2014 Student Outcomes Committee Minutes
	AGENDA  for SOC 6 5 14
	SOCMinutesMay2014
	Audit GIS--SOC
	May 1, 2014 Student Outcomes Committee Minutes  attachments 8 4 14.pdf
	SOCMinutesMay2014
	SOCMinutesApril2014.docx
	FY15 Budget Assumption-Rationale - Board
	Copy of Tvii15 - Proposed
	Copy of Tvii15 - Proposed detail 7b
	Complete With 15 - 4-8-14


	BACMMinutes_June-18-2014
	0614Minutes
	DOC070114

	Audit Committee Meeting Minutes 7-24-14-1



